IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

SEP 2 3 2010

In re: W. B., Jr., A Person Coming	Frederick K. Uninch Oferic	
Under The Juvenile Court Law.) Deputy	
	_) Supreme Court	
THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,) No. S181638	
Plaintiff and Respondent,) Court of Appeal) No. E047368	
V)	
W. B., Jr.,) Superior Court	
Defendant and Appellant.) No. RIJ114127) _)	
APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF Honorable Christian F. Thierb		

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JONATHAN E. DEMSON Attorney at Law Cal. State Bar No. 167758 1158 26th Street #291 Santa Monica, CA 90403 (888) 827-9153

By Appointment of the Supreme Court, with the assistance of Appellate Defenders, Inc.

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Whether the notice requirements set forth in California's recent Indian Child Welfare legislation apply to juvenile delinquency proceedings such as the case at bar in which the minor is at risk of entering foster care, even if a termination of parental rights is not involved.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The original petition concerning appellant pursuant to Welfare and Institutions Code section 602 (styled "Petition New") was filed on March 27, 2007, and involved allegations concerning the theft of a laptop computer. (C.T.I 1-2.)¹ Following his arrest in connection with this petition, appellant was released to the custody of his mother, having spent two days in custody. (C.T.I 1, 5, 12, 30, 128.)

A second petition concerning appellant (also styled "Petition New"), involving an alleged battery, was filed on May 3, 2007. (C.T.I 8-9.) The petition indicates that appellant was not taken into custody. (C.T.I 8.)

[&]quot;C.T.I" refers to the Clerk's Transcript originally filed in the Court of Appeal on September 13, 2007, in connection with DCA NO. E043965 (appellant's prior appeal). "S.C.T.I" refers to the Supplemental Clerk's Transcript originally filed in the Court of Appeal on December 28, 2007, and "S.C.T.II" refers to the Supplemental Clerk's Transcript originally filed in the Court of Appeal on January 29, 2008, in connection with appellant's prior appeal. "C.T.II" refers to the Clerk's Transcript filed in the Court of Appeal on January 29, 2009, in connection with the instant appeal. "R.T.I" refers to the Reporter's Transcript originally filed in the Court of Appeal on September 13, 2007, and "R.T.II" refers to the Reporter's Transcript originally filed in the Court of Appeal on December 28, 2007, in connection with appellant's prior appeal. "R.T.III" refers to the Reporter's Transcript filed in the Court of Appeal on January 29, 2009, in connection with the instant appeal.

The first Probation Officer's Report concerning appellant was filed on May 14, 2007. (C.T.I 12-29.) In that report, the box indicating "ICWA [the Indian Child Welfare Act of 1978 (25 U.S.C. § 1901 et seq.)] may apply" was checked, and the comments stated: "Ms. Jones [appellant's mother] reported her mother [i.e., appellant's grandmother] had Cherokee ancestry. The appropriate paperwork was completed, except Ms. Jones needs to sign it." (C.T.I 16.) The report recommended that appellant "be adjudged a ward of the Court and serve 7/14 days in juvenile hall." (C.T.I 26.)

A third petition concerning appellant (also styled "Petition New"), involving an alleged burglary, was filed on May 23, 2007. (C.T.I 51-52.) A Riverside County Probation Department Detention Hearing Report filed on May 23, 2007, indicates that appellant was arrested on May 22, 2007, and placed in juvenile hall. (C.T.I 54.) In this report, the box indicating "ICWA may apply" was checked, and the comments stated: "As of 5/17/07, Ms. Jones still needed to sign and submit the appropriate paperwork to register for Cherokee ancestry. See social history obtained in Probation officer's report from 5/17/07." (C.T.I 55.) The report recommended against home supervision because "the minor's parents are

not exercising the care and control needed to keep the minor from involvement in delinquent behavior.... The willingness and/or ability of the parents to control the minor's activities must be strengthened before the minor can be safely returned to their custody." (C.T.I 56-57.)

At a hearing on July 5, 2007, appellant admitted to one count of burglary contained in the petition filed on March 27, 2007, and one count of battery contained in the petition filed on May 3, 2007; the remaining counts (including the petition filed on May 23, 2007) were dismissed subject to comment and restitution. (C.T.I 78-92; R.T.I 10-12.) Appellant was released on home supervision. (C.T.I 80, 95, 121.)

A second Probation Officer's Report concerning appellant was filed on August 3, 2007. (C.T.I 96-125.) In that report, the box indicating "ICWA may apply" was checked, and the comments stated: "Ms. Jones reported her mother had Cherokee ancestry. The appropriate paperwork was completed. Ms. Jones has not yet signed it." (C.T.I 109.)

At a dispositional hearing on August 8, 2007, appellant was ordered "placed in suitable licensed foster home, group home, relative home, county or private facility suitable to meet specific needs." (C.T.I 145, 147, 152; R.T.I 22.) At a subsequent hearing on August 28, 2007, however, the

previous disposition was vacated and appellant was released on home supervision to his grandmother, Pamela Jones. (S.C.T.I 9, 10-11; R.T.II 8-10.)

A fourth petition concerning appellant, involving an alleged robbery, was filed on June 13, 2008. (C.T.II 1-2.) A Riverside County Probation Department Detention Hearing Report filed on June 13, 2008, indicates that appellant was arrested on June 12, 2008, and placed in juvenile hall. (C.T.II 3-4.) In this report, the box indicating "ICWA may apply" was checked, and the comments stated: "In the last probation officer's report, the mother reported she may have Cherokee ancestry, but had not yet completed the registration papers." (C.T.II 5.) The report recommended against home supervision, once again noting that "the minor's parents are not exercising the care and control needed to keep the minor from involvement in delinquent behavior" and the "willingness and/or ability of the parents to control the minor's activities must be strengthened before the minor can be safely returned to their custody." (C.T.II 6-7.)

At an adjudication on July 21, 2008, the court found the allegations in the June 13, 2008 petition to be true. (C.T.II 28; R.T.III 90.)

A third Probation Officer's Report concerning appellant was filed on July 30, 2008. (C.T.II 30-52.) In that report, the box indicating "ICWA may apply" was checked, and the comments stated: "According to the Probation Officer's report dated August 8, 2007, Ms. Jones reported her mother had Cherokee ancestry and the appropriate paperwork was completed." (C.T.II 35.)

At a dispositional hearing on August 4, 2008, appellant was released to the custody of his mother, Nicole Jones. (C.T.II 75; R.T.III 95.)

The fifth petition concerning appellant, which is the subject of the instant appeal, was filed on October 14, 2008, and alleges that appellant entered a building with intent to commit a theft and a felony, in violation of Penal Code section 459. (C.T.II 85-86.)

A Riverside County Probation Department Detention Hearing Report filed on October 14, 2008, indicates that appellant was arrested on October 13, 2008, and placed in juvenile hall. (C.T.II 87-88.) In this report, the box indicating "ICWA does not apply" was checked, and the comments stated: "The Probation Officer's Report dated 8/4/08, reported ICWA does not apply." (C.T.II 89.)² The report recommended against

² There is no probation officer's report dated August 4, 2008, in either the

home supervision because, as stated in previous reports, appellant's parents were not exercising the care and control needed to keep him from involvement in delinquent behavior and their willingness to control appellant's activities needed to be strengthened before appellant could be safely returned to their custody. (C.T.II 91.)

After a contested adjudication on December 3, 2008, the court found the burglary count true. (C.T.II 119; R.T.III 134.)

A fourth Probation Officer's Report concerning appellant was filed on December 12, 2008. (C.T.II 121-143.) In that report, the box indicating "ICWA may apply" was checked, and the comments stated: "According to the Probation Officer's report dated August 8, 2007, Ms. Jones reported her

record on appeal or appellant's superior court file. August 4, 2008, was the date of appellant's dispositional hearing, for which the July 30, 2008 Probation Officer's Report (discussed above) was prepared. Assuming that this is the probation officer's report to which the October 14, 2008 detention hearing report intended to refer, it would appear that the preparer of the October 14, 2008 detention hearing report misread the July 30, 2008 Probation Officer's Report, which unambiguously indicated that "ICWA may apply". (See C.T.II 35.)

On the form used to prepare the probation officer's report, an "X" is to be placed *after* the appropriate box indicating whether or not ICWA applies (see C.T.II 35); it may be that the preparer of the October 14, 2008 detention hearing report misinterpreted that section of the July 30, 2008 Probation Officer's Report by misreading the "X" as referring to the box after it, which states "ICWA does not apply", instead of the box before it, which states "ICWA may apply".

mother had Cherokee ancestry and the appropriate paperwork was completed." (C.T.II 125.) The probation officer's evaluation in the report stated that appellant's "treatment needs can no longer be met at home . . . and out of home placement in a supervised and structured setting is appropriate. Placement with his grandparents was considered, however, it is believed his treatment needs can best be met in a placement program." (C.T.II 138.) The report recommended that appellant "be placed in a suitable foster/group home, relative home, county or private facility (no preference) for such period as deemed necessary by staff/probation officer" and that the superior court "make findings by clear proof that continuance in the home of the parent . . . would be contrary to the child's welfare." (C.T.II 140-141.) Appellant's Juvenile Probation Case Plan dated December 8, 2008, also recommended placement. (C.T.II 160.)

At a dispositional hearing on December 17, 2008, appellant was ordered "placed in suitable licensed foster home, group home, relative home, county or private facility suitable to meet specific needs" with a maximum (aggregate) term of confinement of eight years and eight months. (C.T.II 167, 169, 174, 175; R.T.III 139, 140, 142.) Appellant was further ordered "detained pending placement" in juvenile hall. (C.T.II 169, 176.)

The superior court also ordered that "all additional recommended findings and orders as set forth in Nos. 3 through 19 [in the Probation Officer's Reported dated December 12, 2008] be adopted." (R.T.III 142.) Recommendations 3 through 6 of the recommendations referred to above by the superior court are as follows:

- 3. Court make findings by clear proof that continuance in the home of the parent . . . would be contrary to the child's welfare; (CHC)
- 4. Court make findings that reasonable efforts have been made to prevent or eliminate the need for removal of the child from his . . . home and make it possible for the child to return to his . . . home; (REM)
- 5. Minor be removed from the custody of parents, [naming appellant's mother and father]; (MRCC)
- 6. Court make findings pursuant to Section 726[(a)(2) & (3)] of the Welfare and Institutions Code; (F726)

(C.T.II 141-142.)

Appellant filed his notice of appeal on December 17, 2008. (C.T.II 178-79.) The Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment of the superior court in an opinion filed on January 25, 2010, and granted respondent's request for publication of its opinion on February 23, 2010. Appellant filed his petition for review on April 7, 2010, and this Court granted review on May 12, 2010.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Valerie Torres was in the kitchen at her home in Moreno Valley, California, on October 13, 2008, when she observed three individuals, including appellant, making their way along the side of her yard toward her next-door-neighbor's back patio. (R.T.III 100-03.) She telephoned the police, and subsequently heard the sound of glass breaking. (R.T.III 103.) After the police arrived, she identified appellant as one of the three individuals she had seen earlier. (R.T.III 104.)

When Deputy Jose Vasquez of the Riverside County Sheriff's Department arrived at the house, one of the suspects had already been detained, and Vasquez was asked to help search another house that had been found with an open door. (R.T.III 114.) Upon searching that house, Vasquez found two individuals, including appellant, hiding in a hole in the wall. (R.T.III 114-15.) Vasquez found several items taken from the victim's house in a dirt field nearby, and saw that the victim's sliding glass patio door had been shattered. (R.T.III 116-19.)

Kimberly Baker identified the items found in the dirt field behind her home as her belongings. (R.T.III 127-28.)

ARGUMENT

I. CALIFORNIA'S INDIAN CHILD WELFARE LAW AND RELATED RULES OF COURT HAVE EXTENDED THE NOTICE REQUIREMENTS OF THE INDIAN CHILD WELFARE ACT OF 1978 (25 U.S.C. § 1901 ET SEQ.) TO APPLY TO JUVENILE DELINQUENCY CASES LIKE THIS ONE IN WHICH THE MINOR IS AT RISK OF ENTERING FOSTER CARE

A. Introduction

In 2006, recognizing that, "[t]here is no resource that is more vital to the continued existence and integrity of Indian tribes than their children, and the State of California has an interest in protecting Indian children who are members of, or are eligible for membership in, an Indian tribe," the California Legislature passed Senate Bill 678, which codified certain procedures and requirements in juvenile court cases involving Indian children in order to protect the "essential tribal relations and best interest of an Indian child." (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 224, subd. (a)(1).) This statute builds upon the "minimum standards" previously established by Congress in the Indian Child Welfare Act of 1978 (25 U.S.C. § 1901 et seq.) ("ICWA") and, as permitted by the federal statute, extends ICWA's protections to certain juvenile delinquency cases not previously covered by

ICWA. Specifically, unlike the federal statute, which does not apply to any case arising from an act that would be a crime if committed by an adult, California's statute does apply in such cases if the minor is at risk of entering foster care or is already in foster care. This augmentation of the federally-mandated minimum standards is both permitted by ICWA and in complete harmony with the important policy goals of the federal statute. The California Rules of Court have also been revised accordingly.

The threshold requirement set forth in the California statute --on which the efficacy of both the federal and state ICWA provisions entirely depends-- is that the child's tribe be notified of the juvenile court proceedings. This requirement reflects the Legislature's goal of protecting Indian children and empowering the Indian child's tribe in relation to any proceeding in which an Indian child is at risk of entering foster care, regardless of whether that child has entered the juvenile court system by way of dependency or delinquency proceedings.

The issue presented in this case is whether the notice requirements set forth in California's ICWA legislation apply to juvenile delinquency proceedings like this one in which the minor is at risk of entering foster care. The Third District Court of Appeal recently addressed this very issue,

holding that the notice requirements set forth in the California statute and related rules apply to juvenile delinquency proceedings in which the child is at risk of entering foster care, even if a termination of parental rights is not involved. (R.R. v. Superior Court (2009) 180 Cal.App.4th 185.) The Court of Appeal in this case took the opposite view, holding that the California Legislature was powerless to expand the protections set forth in ICWA by virtue of federal preemption, despite clear language in the federal statute describing those protections as "minimum standards," as well as a specific provision in the federal statute permitting states to enact a higher level of protection.

Because the Court of Appeal's opinion in this case is both inconsistent with the plain language of California's Indian Child Welfare legislation and contrary to the important goals of both the California and the federal statutes, this Court should reverse the Court of Appeal and hold that, under California law, ICWA's notice requirements apply to all juvenile delinquency cases in which the minor is at risk of entering foster care.

B. The Standard of Review

Whether California's ICWA legislation and related California Rules of Court require the superior court and the probation department to comply with ICWA's notice requirements in juvenile delinquency cases where the minor is at risk of entering foster care is a question of statutory construction. Such issues of law are reviewed *de novo*. (*Imperial Merchant Services, Inc. v. Hunt* (2009) 47 Cal.4th 381, 387.)

C. The Indian Child Welfare Act of 1978

Congress enacted the Indian Child Welfare Act of 1978 (25 U.S.C. § 1901 et seq.) ("ICWA" or "the Act") in order to:

protect the best interests of Indian children and to promote the stability and security of Indian tribes and families by the establishment of minimum Federal standards for the removal of Indian children from their families, and the placement of such children in foster or adoptive homes which will reflect the unique values of Indian culture

(25 U.S.C. § 1902.) Congress set forth in the Act certain findings, which guide its proper interpretation. Observing that "there is no resource that is more vital to the continued existence and integrity of Indian tribes than their children," the United States "has a direct interest . . . in protecting Indian children who are members of or are eligible for membership in an

Indian tribe." (25 U.S.C. § 1901(3).) "The ICWA presumes it is in the best interests of the child to retain tribal ties and cultural heritage and in the interest of the tribe to preserve its future generations, a most important resource." (In re Desiree F. (2000) 83 Cal.App.4th 460, 469.) Congress further observed that "an alarmingly high percentage of Indian families are broken up by the removal . . . of their children from them by nontribal public and private agencies and that an alarmingly high percentage of such children are placed in non-Indian foster and adoptive homes and institutions." (25 U.S.C. § 1901(4); see In re Desiree F., supra, 83 Cal.App.4th at p. 469 ["Congress has concluded the state courts have not protected these interests and drafted a statutory scheme intended to afford needed protection."].)

Section 1911(c) of the Act provides: "In any State court proceeding for the foster care placement of . . . an Indian child, the . . . Indian child's tribe shall have a right to intervene at any point in the proceeding." (25 U.S.C. § 1911(c).) "Of course, the tribe's right to assert jurisdiction over the proceeding or to intervene in it is meaningless if the tribe has no notice that the action is pending." (*In re Junious M.* (1983) 144 Cal.App.3d 786, 790-791.) "Notice ensures the tribe will be afforded the opportunity to

assert its rights under the [ICWA] irrespective of the position of the parents, Indian custodian or state agencies." (In re Kahlen W. (1991) 233 Cal.App.3d 1414, 1421.) Accordingly, section 1912(a) of the Act establishes a clear notice requirement: "In any involuntary proceeding in a State court, where the court knows or has reason to know that an Indian child is involved, the party seeking the foster care placement of . . . an Indian shall notify . . . the Indian child's tribe . . . of the pending proceedings and of their right of intervention." (25 U.S.C. § 1912(a).) Section 1912(a) further provides that "No foster care placement . . . proceeding shall be held until at least ten days after receipt of notice by . . . the tribe" (Ibid.)

Section 1903 of the Act defines "child custody proceeding" to include "foster care placement' which shall mean any action removing an Indian child from its parent . . . for temporary placement in a foster home or institution . . . where the parent . . . cannot have the child returned upon demand, but where parental rights have not been terminated." (25 U.S.C. § 1903(1)(i).) Section 1903(1) further states that "Such term or terms shall not include a placement based upon an act which, if committed by an adult, would be deemed a crime" (25 U.S.C. § 1903(1).) The Act is clear,

however, that it is intended only to establish "minimum Federal standards" (25 U.S.C. § 1902.) "The ICWA expressly permits '[s]tate or [f]ederal law [to] provide[] a higher standard of protection . . . than the rights provided under' the ICWA." (*In re S.B.* (2005) 130 Cal.App.4th 1148, 1158 [citing 25 U.S.C. § 1921].)

The California legislature has done just that, by enacting comprehensive legislation implementing and expanding the scope of ICWA, as discussed below.

D. The Expanded Notice Requirements Under California Law

"Our Legislature has adopted statutes and rules of court to implement the ICWA." (*In re A.B.* (2008) 164 Cal.App.4th 832, 838.) Specifically, Welfare and Institutions Code section 224, which concerns Indian child custody proceedings, both mirrors the stated purposes of the federal ICWA statute and expands the scope of its notice requirements. Section 224, subdivision (a)(1) declares:

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