In the Supreme Court of the State of California

In re: W.B., a Person Coming Under the Juvenile Court.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

W.B., a minor,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S181638

SUPREME COURT

DEC 2 0 2010

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. E047368 Riverside County Superior Court, Case No. RIJ114127 The Honorable Christian F. Thierbach, Judge

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

Appellant also relies in part on the Rules of Court. (AOB 21-22.) Indeed, the Rules of Court are misleading on this point. California Rule of Court 5.480 states that the ICWA, "applies to all proceedings involving Indian children that may result in an involuntary foster care placement ... including: (1) Proceedings under Welfare and Institutions Code section 300 et seq., and sections 601 and 602 et seq. in which the child is at risk of entering foster care or is in foster care. . . ." Similarly, the former version of this rule, "requir[ed] ICWA notices in all section 601 and 602 hearings, 'in which the child was at risk of entering foster care'" (Former Rule of Court 1439; *Enrique O., supra*, 137 Cal.App.4th at p. 733.) The Rules of Court appear to mirror the misinterpretation of Welfare and Institutions Code section 224.3 which appellant now advances.

Prior to the passage of the California implementation provisions, the *Enrique O*. court had limited the applicability of this Rule of Court because it was inconsistent with the then governing statute, the federal ICWA. In so holding, the *Enrique O*. court found,

Further, we note that the interpretation appellant seeks of Rule 1439 would render the rule inconsistent

with the federal statute on which it is based, which is an untenable result. (Sara M. v. Superior Court (2005) 36 Cal.4th 998, 1011 . . ; see also Reno v. Baird (1998) 18 Cal.4th 640, 660) Appellant nevertheless argues that "if a state law concerning child custody proceedings provides a higher standard of protection to the rights of a parent or Indian custodian than federal law, the court may apply the higher standard." (25 U.S.C. § 1921.) We agree, however, the Judicial Council endeavors to "establish rules governing practice and procedure in the juvenile court not inconsistent with the law." (§ 265, italics added; see also Sara M. v. Superior Court, supra, 36 Cal.4th at p. 1011 . . , citing *In re Richard S.* (1991) 54 Cal.3d 857, 863 . . . ["The rules have the force of statute to the extent that they are not inconsistent with legislative enactments and constitutional provisions."].) Thus, we do not interpret the California Rules of Court here to expressly contradict the ICWA by ordering ICWA notices and procedures to occur in all out of home placements arising out of acts that would be deemed crimes if committed by an adult. (Sara M. v. Superior Court, supra, 36 Cal.4th at p. 1013-1014 . . . [discussing need for some deference to Judicial Council's interpretation of a statute]; People v. Hall (1994) 8 Cal.4th 950, 961... ["[T]he Judicial Council's authority . . . does not extend to the adoption of rules that are inconsistent with governing statutes. . . . "].)

(Enrique O., supra, 137 Cal.App.4th at 733.)

The court in *Enrique O*. was and is correct. To the extent that California Rule of Court 5.480 is inconsistent with the California implementation provisions and the federal ICWA, it is not binding because "the Judicial Council is simply empowered to 'adopt rules for court administration, practice and procedure, not inconsistent with statute' (Cal. Const., art. VI, § 6.)" (*In re Richard S., supra*, 54 Cal.3d at p. 863.)

In R.R., the court attempted to distinguish Enrique O.'s holding based on the fact that it was decided before the implementation provisions had

been codified. R.R. holds that the passage of Senate Bill No. 678 provided the legislative authority to enforce the Rules of Court as written, and their expansion of the class of proceedings to which the ICWA was applicable:

We acknowledge that In re Enrique O., supra, 137 Cal.App.4th 728.., held that California Rules of Court, rule 1439, the predecessor to rules 5.480 et seq., did not apply to section 602 delinquency proceedings because such an interpretation would render the rule inconsistent with the federal statute upon which it was based. (*Id.* at p. 734) Because the Judicial Council may not establish rules that are inconsistent with the law, the court refused to interpret rule 1439 in a manner that expressly contradicted ICWA. (Ibid.) However, In re Enrique O. was decided in March 2006, prior to the passage of Senate Bill No. 678 later that year. As indicated, Senate Bill No. 678 provides the legislative authority for the Rules of Court applying ICWA to section 602 proceedings.

(*R.R.*, supra, 180 Cal.App. at pp. 205-206.) The flaw in the *R.R.* court's analysis is that it fails to account for the fact that nothing in Senate Bill No. 678 indicates the Legislature intended such an expansion despite the Legislature's presumed knowledge of the *Enrique O*. holding.

The decision in *Enrique O.* was issued on March 13, 2006. (*In re Enrique O., supra*, 137 Cal.App.4th at p. 728.) Senate Bill 678 was passed and chaptered on September 30, 2006. Senate Bill 678 was first introduced in August of 2005, and it was before the Senate and the Assembly both before and after the decision in *Enrique O.* was issued. The Legislature is presumed to know about existing case law at the time it enacts a statute. (See *People v. Green* (1996) 50 Cal.App.4th 1076, 1090;

⁵ See Bill Documents for Senate Bill 678 (2005-2006 Reg. Sess.) at http://www.leginfo.ca.gov.

Arthur Andersen v. Superior Court (1998) 67 Cal.App.4th 1481, 1500; Yoffie v. Marin Hospital Dist. (1987) 193 Cal.App.3d 743, 748.) Despite its presumed knowledge of the decision in Enrique O., which limited the reach of the Rule of Court, the Legislature was silent on the issue. Instead, the Legislature adopted, in total, the definition of "child custody proceedings" as established in the federal Act. (§ 224.1, subd. (c).)

The relevant dates add force to this interpretation. The decision in *Enrique O*. was not issued decades before the Legislature's contemplation of statutes that may have been affected by the court's opinion; rather, the *Enrique O*. decision was issued *while* the Legislature was amending and actively considering the pertinent statutes. During the amendment process, the Legislature had additional incentive to be keenly aware of the court decisions that were being issued on the ICWA. Because we can presume the Legislature's knowledge about the Enrique O. decision, in the midst of the passage of the relevant statutes, it is fair to conclude that had the Legislature actually intended to expand the reach of the ICWA in exactly the manner *Enrique O*. said conflicted with the federal law, there would have been a clear and unambiguous signal that this was its intention. Instead, as noted above, the legislative history suggests just the opposite.

For all of the reasons stated above, section 224.3, subdivision (a), does not expand the definition of "Indian child custody proceedings" to include all proceedings pursuant to a section 602 petition where the juvenile is at risk of entering foster care. Instead, section 224.3 implicitly applies to the same child custody proceedings as the remaining provisions of the ICWA. The definition included in the federal ICWA and adopted by California in section 224.1, subdivision (c), delineates which child custody proceedings are subject to the ICWA, and thus which child custody proceedings are subject to the requirements established in section 224.3, subdivision (a).

Appellant committed an act which if committed by an adult, would be a crime. Specifically, the court found true the allegation that appellant had committed a residential burglary (Pen. Code, § 459) and the court ordered he be placed in a suitable public or private institution. Nothing in the record indicates that the resulting placement was not "based upon" appellant's criminal act. Accordingly, assuming appellant is an Indian child, the provisions and protections of the ICWA were inapplicable to these proceedings because they were not "Indian child custody proceedings."

II. EVEN IF APPLICABLE TO DELINQUENCY PROCEEDINGS
GENERALLY, THE ICWA WAS NOT APPLICABLE TO
APPELLANT BECAUSE HE WAS NOT AT RISK OF ENTERING
FOSTER CARE

Even assuming appellant's interpretation of the statute were correct, the ICWA is still inapplicable to this case because appellant was not "at risk of entering foster care."

The definition for "at risk of entering foster care" is provided in section 727.4, subdivision (d)(2): "'At risk of entering foster care' means that conditions within a minor's family may necessitate his or her entry into foster care unless those conditions are resolved."

Initially, at the August 4, 2008 disposition hearing on his previous robbery case, in front of the same juvenile court judge, the court warned appellant about his next placement, should he appear before the court on a subsequent petition. There the court said,

Winston, good luck to you. I sincerely mean that. I hope I don't see you again. Because if I do, I'm afraid the next stop is placement outside the home. And a young man of your age, you're looking at Twin Pines Ranch or even potentially the Youth Offender Program.

(RT 96.)

In the instant case, there was no discussion of a foster care placement and conditions of appellant's family were never discussed. Nothing in the record indicates that the court was considering foster care placement. The court ordered he be placed in a "suitable public or private facility." (RT 140.) Appellant cites two portions of the record to support his argument that he was "at risk of entering foster care." (AOB 35.) First, appellant cites the Probation Officer's recommendations which, under recommendation two, recommended placement as follows: "Minor(s) placed in suitable licensed foster home, group home, relative home, county or private facility. . ." (CT 140.) However, the court did not adopt recommendation two pertaining to placement, but adopted only recommendations three through nine. (RT 142.) Appellant also cites the Minute Order which similarly indicates minor was to be "placed in suitable licensed foster home, group home, relative home, county or private facility, suitable to meet specific needs." (CT 167) But the minute order is inconsistent with the oral pronouncement of judgment, which said nothing of foster care, and where such is the case, the oral pronouncement of judgment governs. (*People v. Mesa* (1975) 14 Cal.3d 466, 471.) Accordingly, even under appellant's interpretation of the statute, the

Accordingly, even under appellant's interpretation of the statute, the ICWA is still inapplicable to these proceedings because appellant was not at risk of entering foster care.

III. ANY ERROR IN FAILING TO GIVE ICWA NOTICE WAS HARMLESS

Even were this Court to interpret section 224.3 to extend the ICWA protections to appellant's delinquency proceeding, appellant cannot demonstrate that he was prejudiced by the juvenile court's failure to notify the Cherokee tribe of his possible placement in foster care.

In *Enrique O*. the court held "[a]ny rule created in excess of ICWA's requirements would be a statutory right" subject to review under *People v*.

Watson (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818. (Enrique O., supra, 137 Cal.App.4th at p. 735.) Thus, appellant must demonstrate how the juvenile court's failure to provide the Cherokee tribe notice of his placement prejudiced him. (Ibid.) As the Enrique O. court noted, no such prejudice can be established in delinquency proceedings:

Generally an Indian child who commits a crime will be subject to the same punishment and rehabilitation as a non Indian child, and invoking the extensive noticing scheme of the ICWA in such cases would do nothing to change that. The tribe, while now on notice, would still have no power or authority to usurp the powers of the juvenile court in rehabilitating and/or punishing the minor.

(Enrique O., supra, 137 Cal.App.4th at p. 735.) The court noted the minor in Enrique O. was "essentially demanding we order notice for notice's sake, which we will not do." (*Ibid.*)

In addition, the court ordered he be placed in a "suitable public or private facility." (RT 140.) Appellant was not placed in foster care and thus, even if the court erred in failing to notify the tribe of appellant's risk of entering foster care, the fact that that risk was never realized renders any error harmless. The tribe can only assert its ICWA rights in foster care placements, adoptive placements, and guardianships. (See 25 U.S.C. § 1903; section 224.1, subd. (c).) Nothing in the ICWA would be relevant to a placement in a public or private facility.

Additionally, appellant turned 18 on April 8, 2010, and as such, he is no longer an Indian Child within the meaning of the ICWA. (See § 224.1, subd. (a), incorporating 25 U.S.C. § 1903, subd. (4).)⁶ It is unclear what, if

⁶ Respondent notes, for the Court, that the Legislature has recently amended the definition of an "Indian child." (See Assem. Bill No. 2418 (2009-2010 Reg. Sess.) § 1.) This bill added subdivision (b) to Welfare and institutions Code section 224.1. The new subdivision (b) reads, in total: (continued...)

anything, ICWA notice could accomplish at this point in the proceedings. Appellant is no longer a minor to which the provisions of ICWA even

(...continued)

As used in connection with an Indian child custody proceeding, the term "Indian child" also means an unmarried person who is 18 years of age or over, but under 21 years of age, who is a member of an Indian tribe or eligible for membership in an Indian tribe and is the biological child of a member of an Indian tribe, and who is under the jurisdiction of the dependency court, unless that person or his or her attorney elects not to be considered an Indian child for purposes of the Indian child custody proceeding. All Indian child custody proceedings involving persons 18 years of age and older shall be conducted in a manner that respects the person's status as a legal adult.

(Assem. Bill No. 2418 (2009-2010 Reg. Sess.) § 1.) This definition, as amended, is inapplicable to appellant for three reasons. First, it was not the statute in effect at the time of appellant's proceedings, and there is nothing to indicate the Legislature intended it to have retroactive effect. (See Evangelatos v. Superior Court (1988) 44 Cal.3d 1188, 1209 [Holding, "in the absence of an express retroactivity provision, a statute will not be applied retroactively unless it is very clear from extrinsic sources that the Legislature or the voters must have intended a retroactive application."]; and see Stenger v. Anderson (1967) 66 Cal.2d 970, 977 & fn. 13 [applying the general rule of prospective application of a statute to the Welfare and Institutions Code].) Second, by its terms, the amendment applies only to juveniles within the jurisdiction of the dependency court, not the delinquency court. Finally, according to the probation reports, appellant is not the biological child of a member of an Indian tribe. In all of the probation reports, appellant's mother indicated that the ICWA may be applicable because her mother (appellant's grandmother) may have Cherokee heritage. Thus, appellant's mother was not a member of the Cherokee nation, or likely would have included this fact in the probation reports. The amendment only applies to the biological children of tribe members. Accordingly, appellant does not fall within the broadened definition of an "Indian child."

could apply. Ordering remand at this point, would simply be a waste of judicial resources.

As in *Enrique O*., appellant cannot establish he was prejudiced in any way by the juvenile court's failure to inquire whether he is Indian and, assuming he is Indian, to notify his tribe that the probation department would be placing him in a private or public facility.

Accordingly, any error by the trial court was harmless.

IV. REVERSAL OF THE DISPOSITIONAL ORDER IS NOT THE APPROPRIATE REMEDY

Even assuming this court adopts appellant's interpretation of the California implementation scheme and concludes that the court's failure to issue notice pursuant to section 224.3 was not harmless, reversal of the dispositional order is not the appropriate remedy. First, the juvenile court must determine if, in fact, appellant is an Indian child.

The record is clear that the only indication that appellant is an Indian child came from his mother's conversations with the probation officers. In each of these incidents, she indicated that "ICWA may apply" because her mother may have Cherokee heritage. (See CT 5, 35, 125.) Before reversing the dispositional order, the case should be remanded for a limited evidentiary hearing to determine whether or not appellant even qualifies as an Indian child.

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